
 

BELLEVUE ARTS COMMISSION 
SPECIAL MEETING 

MINUTES 
 

January 15, 2008 Bellevue City Hall
4:00 p.m. Room 1E -109
 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: Chairperson Shepherd, Commissioners Holder, Finley, 

Kiselev, Ptacek, Tremblay 
 
COMMISSIONERS ABSENT: Commissioner Donkin  
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Mary Pat Byrne, Tamar Benzikry-Stern, Paul Inghram, 

Department of Planning and Community Development 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: None 
 
RECORDING SECRETARY: Gerry Lindsay 
 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The meeting was called to order at 4:01 p.m. by Chairperson Shepherd who presided.  All 
Commissioners were present with the exception of Commissioner Kiselev who arrived at 
4:09 p.m., Commissioner Ptacek who arrived at 4:11 p.m. and Commissioner Donkin who 
was excused. 
 
II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES 
 
 A. Approval of Agenda  
 
Motion to approve the agenda was made by Commissioner Holder.  Second was 
by Commissioner Finley and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
 B. Approval of Minutes 
 
Motion to approve the December 4, 2007 minutes as submitted was made by 
Commissioner Holder.  Second was by Commissioner Finley and the motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
III. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS – None 
 
IV. ACTION ITEMS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
 A. Bel-Red Subarea Plan Draft Review 
 
Arts Specialist Mary Pat Byrne summarized the Commission’s process to date in developing 
themes for arts-related policies in the Bel Red Subarea Plan.  She said staff used the 
Commission’s input to draft policies that are both consistent with the Bel Red Steering 
Committee’s final recommendations and Arts Commission comments.  The next step is for 
the Commission to review and give feedback on the draft policies.  The draft policies will be 
forwarded to the Planning Commission for review, and then the Planning Commission 
makes its recommendation to City Council.  Issues regarding funding mechanisms will be 
forwarded directly to the City Council.    



 
Comprehensive Planning Manager Paul Inghram said the intent is for the boards and 
commissions working on the Bel-Red subarea plan to bring their recommendations to the 
Planning Commission on February 27.  The Planning Commission’s charge is to review the 
entire subarea plan and forward to City Council recommended drafts of both the subarea 
plan and a package of Land Use Code amendments.   
 
Commissioner Finley said chairs and vice-chairs of the boards and commissions working on 
the subarea plan met recently to review the various sections and discuss how they were 
progressing process-wise.  Each body stressed the need to work together as a group on 
what to present to the Planning Commission and Council.   
 
Mr. Inghram said April 9 is the tentative date for the next joint boards and commissions 
meeting.  The meeting on February 27 will help the Planning Commission understand where 
the various boards and commissions stand regarding their related draft subarea policies; the 
information will be utilized in pulling all the pieces together in a second draft to be ready for 
review by April 9.  There will also be additional opportunities for public input.   
 
Commissioner Finley said she represented the Arts Commission at the recent meeting with 
the chairs and vice-chairs.  She said most of what the Arts Commission talked about has 
been covered in the draft policies, except for creating a public art program for the Bel-Red 
corridor.  The draft refers to promoting public art and integrating it throughout the corridor, 
but nothing is said about a mechanism for doing that.   
 
Commissioner Tremblay said she was excited to read through the draft and see how 
sustainability is one hallmark of the plan.  She said that is a theme the Arts Commission can 
use as a framework in which to launch an arts program.  Commissioner Ptacek concurred, 
adding that as the stream corridors are brought back to life there will be ample opportunity 
for incorporating environmentally-themed artwork.   
 
Commissioner Finley said she shared with the chairs and vice-chairs that there are many  
ways to incorporate art, including in the design of buildings, transportation corridors, 
lighting and pavement, and environmental elements.  She said that is why it will be 
important to include in the policies the need to create a public art program for the corridor.   
 
Commenting on the vision statement, Chair Shepherd said given the potential impact, value 
and use of art in the corridor it is surprising not to have a separate bullet about the 
presence of arts and culture as part of the vision.   
 
Commissioner Tremblay agreed.  She said the sustainability theme presents a huge 
opportunity to do something that is rarely done, which is start essentially from scratch for 
an entire area.   
 
Commissioner Holder said the green concept is so important everything built should have 
green components.   
 
Commissioner Ptacek said he had some conversations with Department of Planning and 
Community Development Director Matt Terry about what it would take to get artists living 
and working in the corridor.  The fact is the high cost of land will make it very difficult to 
offer reasonable rents.   
 
Commissioner Finley said it may not be possible to bring about a single arts district within 
one tight area of the corridor, but arts facilities may spread out throughout the corridor.   
 



 

Ms. Byrne said housing is an important theme in the subarea policies, and both affordable 
and workforce housing are included.  Artists certainly fit into those categories.   
 
Commissioner Finley said if it will take specific land use zoning to get a arts and culture 
district in the corridor, the Arts Commission should work closely with the Planning 
Commission to bring that about.  Mr. Inghram said zoning actions are built on policy 
language, so the policies should be very clear.  The intent is to create policies that will not 
limit the incorporation of the arts to a single district within the corridor.   
 
Commissioner Holder observed that the draft policies are very general and suggested that 
in order to see something happen the policies will need to be far more specific.   
 
Commissioner Tremblay suggested that during the interim between the time the corridor is 
rezoned and the time the existing light industrial uses redevelop will offer the best 
opportunity for artists to gain a foothold in the corridor.   
 
Mr. Inghram said the area where Pacific Northwest Ballet is located is currently zoned 
General Commercial.  The new zoning will be somewhat similar, but the city could apply a 
couple of different zoning overlays that would take another look at the types of uses 
allowed in the zone to make sure that art creation and education uses all fit.  Work/live 
opportunities could also be created whereby the primary use will be commercial but with a 
residential component.  The first step, however, is to develop strong policies; that will be 
followed by the development of zoning and implementation tools.   
 
Commissioner Kiselev said her work with a for-profit healthcare corporation recently led her 
to search for a property in the Bel-Red corridor.  She said she found that many properties 
there are for sale, and much of the land is overpriced.  There are quite a few empty spaces 
currently and it may be a good time for the city to work jointly with the property owners on 
advertising the spaces to arts groups.  It may be that the property owners are unaware of 
the desire to create an arts district and that they might be willing to move in that direction 
with their properties.   
 
Commissioner Holder stressed the importance of carefully reviewing the policy language.  
She said if what the Commission wants is not captured in the policies, it will not happen.  
Ms. Byrne agreed and pointed out the need to keep the language as open as possible. 
 
Mr. Inghram said the area where Pacific Northwest Ballet is located is not within a 
redevelopment node.  That means there will be less pressure for redevelopment of those 
sites and greater opportunity for reuse of existing older buildings.  The older buildings likely 
will have lower rents.  The policies are intended to convey that art should be a component 
of all areas of the corridor, but specifically in the area by Pacific Northwest Ballet there is an 
additional opportunity.   
 
Ms. Byrne noted that during the steering committee work consultants conducted research 
on the market for various land uses in the area, especially housing, office and retail.  There 
has not, however, been opportunity to talk with artists about their level of interest in the 
area, what will the critical components be for seeding a successful arts district,  should 
certain kinds of uses be allowed and spaces be created and other questions.  Basic policies 
that will create the right kind of playing field need to be in place, then there will need to be 
more specific research done.   
 
Commissioner Ptacek said the draft policies represent a very good start in the right 
direction.  He suggested including in the policies the notion of exploring a location for a 
school of art that would draw arts people to the corridor.  Something like that could be 



done in conjunction with the University of Washington or other educational entity.  Mr. 
Inghram said that could fit in either policy G-1 or G-2. 
 
Chair Shepherd suggested incorporating it into G-2 but broadening the language of the 
policy to read “Encourage the integration of arts and cultural elements throughout the 
district….”  
 
Commissioner Ptacek proposed including the idea in G-1 by adding a second sentence.   
 
Commissioner Holder reiterated the need for arts and culture to be a bulleted item in the 
vision statement along with parks, housing and transportation.   
 
Commissioner Finley asked for the inclusion of a policy calling for the creation of a public art 
program for the corridor and making it G-3, then moving the other policies down.  That way 
the new G-3 would become the mechanism for G-4, which is focused on promoting public 
art.  The new G-3 would serve as the basis on which to create a percent-for-art program.   
 
Commissioner Ptacek suggested that once the policy language is drafted Jim Kelly with 
4Culture should be asked to review it and offer his thoughts.  Ms. Byrne agreed to do that.   
 
 B. Overlake Hospital Sculpture Healing Garden Update 
 
Ms. Byrne reminded the Commission that some had voiced concerns as to how the Overlake 
Hospital sculpture healing garden was being developed – that the site as built out did not 
look like a good location for the garden.  She said she visited the site and then shared with 
the Commission the photos she had taken.  She said from the street the site appears to be 
only a small grassy mound.  However, from inside the building it can be seen that the site is 
developing as planned with the full 18,000 square feet.   
 
One concern was that the site would not afford any degree of tranquility because of where 
it is situated.  The pictures showed how the slope of the land protects the site from the 
street.  There will ultimately be a row of street trees and low shrubbery which will screen 
the site even more.   
 
Ms. Byrne said the city is committed to siting Giga Now in the space.  She said she will be 
working with the landscape architect to determine how to best orient the sculpture given 
the space.   
 
Ms. Byrne noted that the Commission set aside $25,000 to work with the landscape 
architect on a master plan for the site with an eye on accepting more art in the future.  The 
space as currently laid out represents the minimum Overlake Hospital must do in order to 
meet their gateway requirement, and there is no requirement for them to do more.   
  
Commissioner Ptacek observed that the site is difficult to access from just about any 
direction and that it does not seem integral to the rest of the community.  The sculpture 
garden will only be of benefit to those who are shopping in the immediate area and those 
who visit the hospital.  Ms. Byrne noted that NE 10th Street west of the freeway is a 
developing cultural corridor, and once the connection over the freeway is completed there 
the sculpture garden would become one more cultural amenity for people to view and enjoy 
along that street.   
 
Commissioner Holder voiced her preference for either putting the sculpture garden on hold 
until NE 10th Street is completed, or siting only Giga Now and putting the master planning 
process on hold until NE 10th Street is completed.  It would not be wise to spend $25,000 



 

on the site at this point; the public would be better served by focusing attention on the art 
walk.   
 
Commissioner Kiselev concurred.  She suggested that while the space offers another way 
for the Commission to expose citizens to the arts, it is not the place to focus a lot more 
attention.  The green space will be used, but when NE 10th Street is completed there will be 
more traffic and emergency vehicles that will disrupt the peace and quiet of the space.   
 
Commissioner Holder said she spoke with Craig Hendrickson about bringing in more 
shrubbery to isolate the space.  His reaction was not to go in that direction in order to keep 
the site as safe as possible; he said that the site must be open.   
 
Commissioner Finley suggested that if NE 10th Street is to become a future cultural corridor, 
more thought should be given to how that should be done.  She agreed that no more 
money should be spent on the sculpture healing garden for the time being.   
 
Chair Shepherd agreed that the city should move ahead with its obligation to site Giga Now 
at the site but supported not spending additional money on the site.   
 
Motion to release the earmark of $25,000 for master planning the Overlake 
sculpture healing garden on the Public Art Commitments Report and reflect 
amount in the uncommitted funds total was made by Commissioner Holder; 
second was by Commissioner Finley and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
V. COMMISSION QUICK BUSINESS 
 
 Grants Workshop Reminder 
 
Ms. Byrne reminded Commissioners that the grants workshop for potential applicants was 
scheduled for the next day.  She said Commissioner attendance is optional. 
 
VI. REPORTS 
 
 A. Commissioner Reports 
 
  1. Meydenbauer Bay Master Plan Update 
 
Commissioner Finley said the steering committee will meet again on January 17.  She said 
to date the group has focused on the upper area and the lower area land use surrounding 
Main Street.  The park property itself has not yet been addressed by the committee.  The 
favored plan is to block off 100th Avenue NE from Main Street and make it a Pedestrian 
Corridor which over time would develop with an extension to Wildwood Park.  The group 
has also looked at the potential of working with private developers to allow them access to 
the Bayview Apartments property in exchange for parking underneath.  Parking remains the 
hottest topic on the table.   
 
Commissioner Finley said the committee talked for two meetings about the upper area 
along Lake Washington Boulevard where many apartments are being converted to 
condominiums.  The focus of the discussions has been on what incentives could be offered 
to get the property owners to integrate those developments with the park.  The group came 
to the realization that absent the city putting up a very large amount of money, there is no 
way the developers can be offered enough to do anything but convert the units.  It was 
finally concluded that the issue had to be pulled off the table.   
 



The development moratorium currently in place will run out at the end of January, and the 
Council said it will not renew it.   
 
The meeting schedule for the steering committee may soon be scaled back to allow staff 
time to look at everything associated with the park that needs to be reviewed, such as 
environmental issues regarding the bay and moorage.  When the committee reconvenes, 
the focus will be on the park itself.   
 
Ms. Byrne said there has been no real movement yet on the plan for extending the art walk 
down to the bay.  There will be more activity on that topic in the coming months.   
 
 B. Staff Reports 
 
  1. Project Updates 
 
Ms. Byrne reported that all eight of the sites for the 140th Avenue NE project have been 
excavated.  Weather permitting, the pads will be poured within a week.  The installation 
work will be coordinated by Artech because of the large number of components.  The 
painting is not completely done and is running slightly behind, but the work done so far is 
very good.   
 
With regard to the Bellevue Sculpture Exhibition, Ms. Benzikry-Stern said there are four 
contenders for the jury.  The jury will meet either the week of February 18 or the week of 
February 25.   
 
VII. INFORMATION AND UPCOMING EVENTS 
 

A. Written Correspondence 
 

1. KidsQuest 
2. Village Theatre 

 
B. For your Information 

 
1. Calendar 
2.  Upcoming Agenda Items 
3. CIP Public Art Program Commitments update 

 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Chair Shepherd adjourned the meeting at 5:38 p.m. 


	Bellevue City Hall
	Room 1E -109

